IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

SUPREME COURT

ANGIE CHRISTENSEN,

MAR 1 9 2018

PLAINTIFF AND RESPONDENT,

Jorge Navarrete Clerk

v.

Deputy

WILL LIGHTBOURNE, DIRECTOR, CALIFORNIA DEPARTMENT OF SOCIAL SERVICES; CALIFORNIA DEPARTMENT OF SOCIAL SERVICES,

DEFENDANTS AND APPELLANTS.

After a Decision by the Court of Appeal for the First Appellate District, Division Two, No. A144254

Reversing a Judgment of the Superior Court of San Francisco County Case No. CPF-12-512070, Honorable Ernest H. Goldsmith, Judge

OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

*RICHARD A. ROTHSCHILD, SBN 67356 STEPHANIE E. HAFFNER, SBN 194192 ALEXANDER PRIETO, SBN 270864

WESTERN CENTER ON LAW & POVERTY

Issues Presented for Review

- 1. California's CalWORKs program supports children in the homes of very poor families. Eligibility for and the amount of aid depends on the amount of income already available to the household. May income that is paid as court-ordered child support for children in other homes be considered available to children in the home of the paying parent?
- 2. Welfare and Institutions Code section 11005.51 prohibits one family's "income or resources" from being considered in determining the amount of aid to any other family. Where garnished child support is the direct or indirect income of the receiving children, does the state violate section 11005.5 when it allows the garnished income to also be considered in determining the amount of aid to the paying family?

Introduction

Angie Christensen's family was denied public assistance because the Department of Social Services counted the family as having money it never will receive: her husband's wages and unemployment garnished to pay child support owed to another family. The result for the Christensens and similar families throughout California thwarts the legislative purpose behind both CalWORKs and child support: to secure adequate financial support to all California children.

For more than 40 years, California's welfare and child support systems have operated in tandem with the single overarching goal of ensuring sufficient financial support for the state's children. Each statutory scheme

¹ Section or § refers to the Welfare and Institutions Code unless otherwise stated.

calculates an amount intended to meet that goal, whether funded by the government, private sources, or a combination.

The Legislature has recognized that robbing from children in one system to pay for the needs of children in the other undermines both systems. The detailed statutory guideline for calculating child support specifies that the amount a parent pays to support another family does not count as income available to that parent. Fam. Code §4059(e). It is inconceivable that if the family of the paying parent happens to be so poor as to potentially qualify for CalWORKs, the same Legislature would turn around and permit that family to be penalized.

In fact, no statute authorizes the Department's policy at issue here, and a long line of opinions from this Court and the Court of Appeal prohibit counting phantom funds in public benefits programs. In the absence of express legislative authorization, this Court should not infer that the Legislature intended such an outcome in this case.

Contrary to the Department's expressed fears, the Court can invalidate the Department's policy without necessarily changing the treatment of other garnished debt. Child support is uniquely intertwined with CalWORKs for the purpose of securing adequate financial support to all California children. Moreover, child support is a different kind of debt which takes priority over all other debt, cannot be compromised without both agency and court approval, and cannot be discharged in bankruptcy. Child support paid to another family *never* benefits the paying family. It is simply unavailable to the paying parent's family. The Department's policy of pretending otherwise cannot withstand scrutiny.

In addition, the Department's policy violates §11005.5, which prohibits consideration of income received by one group of public benefits recipients as also available to a different group. When garnished child support goes to

another family receiving CalWORKs, the Department violates §11005.5. The Department's policy allows counting the same money twice: once to reduce or deny aid to the family of the paying parent, such as the Christensens; and then to reduce CalWORKs for the family that receives the child support. The Department's policy is invalid.

Statement of the Case

CalWORKs supports poor families whose "reasonably anticipated" income "to be received" falls below specified amounts.

CalWORKs, the California Work Opportunity and Responsibility to Kids Act, provides cash assistance to low-income families. §§11200, 11250. The Legislature enacted CalWORKs after Congress replaced the old welfare system known as AFDC (Aid to Families with Dependent Children) with a block grant program known as Temporary Assistance for Needy Children. AB 1542, Stats. 1997, ch. 270.

To qualify for CalWORKs, a family must be poor; its "reasonably anticipated income, less exempt income" must be less than the maximum CalWORKs benefit for a family of its size. §11450.12(b); MPP §44-207.2.² The maximum benefit is called the Maximum Aid Payment, §11450.12(b), which in October 2010 (when Ms. Christensen applied) was \$828 per month for a family of four. *Christensen v. Lightbourne*, 15 Cal.App.5th 1239, 1249, n.13 (2017), *review granted*, Jan. 10, 2018. This was 45% of the federal poverty line. 75 Fed.Reg. 45628, 45629 (Aug. 3, 2010).

² The MPP, the Department's Manual of Policies and Procedures, constitutes the Department's official regulations and is available at http://www.cdss.ca.gov/inforesources/Letters-Regulations/Legislation-and-Regulations/CalWORKs-CalFresh-Regulations/Eligibility-and-Assistance-Standards.

The CalWORKs program calculates need prospectively, and the monthly benefit amount is based on income "reasonably anticipated" that "will be received" during the family's reporting period. §§11265.2, 11450.12(b). Income is considered reasonably anticipated "if the county is reasonably certain of the amount of the income and that the income will be received" during the reporting period. §11265.2(b).

Child support is money generally garnished from non-custodial parents' wages to pay the expenses of their children in amounts set by state law.

California parents must support their minor children. Fam. Code §§3900 et seq. Child support is money that a non-custodial parent pays to the custodial parent for the child's expenses. *Sneed v. Saenz*, 120 Cal.App.4th 1220, 1245 (2004).

Unlike in other areas such as consumer debt, garnishment of wages to pay child support does not suggest a last-resort collection measure only invoked against a recalcitrant debtor. Rather, Family Code §5230 requires a court to include in any child support order an "earnings assignment order . . ." Such an order can only be stayed for good cause. Fam. Code §5260. Most California child support is collected through garnishment. 2 CT 374 (Department of Child Support Services Handbook).

To comply with the same federal law that authorizes funding of CalWORKs, the Legislature has established a detailed uniform guideline to determine the appropriate amount of child support for each family. Fam. Code §§4050, 4055.

When child support is owed to a CalWORKs family, the money is either assigned to the state or subtracted from the CalWORKs grant.

As a condition of receiving CalWORKs, applicants often must assign their rights to child support payments to the state. §11477. When an assignment occurs, the custodial family keeps only the first \$50 of current monthly support collected. §11475.3; MPP §12-425(c).³ The state keeps the rest to offset the amount of CalWORKs benefits it pays the custodial family.

For other CalWORKs recipients, child support payments received are not assigned and count directly as income. This occurs when all adults in the home are excluded from the assistance unit because they have received 48 months of assistance, have been sanctioned for 12 consecutive months, or are ineligible because they are in violation of the terms of probation or parole. §11477(c)(1). Similarly, there is no assignment when a family collects child support for arrears that accrued before the family started receiving aid, as well as when a family collects support in excess of what is owed. §11477(a)(1)(B). In all these cases, other than the first \$50, the child support paid directly to the family counts as income. §11477(c)(2) ("It is the intent of the Legislature that the regular receipt of child support ... be considered" in determining income).

The result of considering child support as income for a family is subtracting the amount of support dollar for dollar from the grant or disqualifying the family altogether.

³ California Department of Child Support Services regulations, contained in its Manual of Policies and Procedures, are available at http://www.childsup.ca.gov/resources/childsupportregulations/manualofpoliciesandprocedures.aspx.

The Department, reversing previous practice, adopts policy counting child support paid to another family as income to the paying parent, disqualifying the paying parent's family or reducing its grant.

No statute has ever expressly addressed the availability of garnished child support to the family of the paying parent. Before AB 1542, the legislation that enacted CalWORKs, a Department regulation did not count garnished child support as available to the family of the paying parent. *Christensen*, 15 Cal.App.5th at 1248, citing former MPP §44-113.9.

Even though AB 1542 did not expressly repeal the prior regulation, the Department, in a sub-regulatory letter to counties, adopted a rule counting income paid as child support for children in other homes as if it were available to the children in the paying home. All County Letter 97-59, 1 CT 63.

Ms. Christensen applies for CalWORKs cash aid, but is disqualified because of wages and benefits that are never received by the family but instead garnished to support her husband's children outside the home.

In October 2010, Angie Christensen applied for CalWORKs cash aid to financially support the children in her home. Director's Alternative Decision, Administrative Record (AR) 3. Although her husband Bruce had income from wages and unemployment benefits, court-ordered child support was garnished from those funds. *Id.* The garnished income provided for children in other homes – one child whose mother also received CalWORKs, one child who was not assisted by CalWORKs at that time, and one child who was an adult and for whom support payments were for arrearages. *Id.* Had the garnished child support been excluded, the Christensen children would have been eligible to receive CalWORKs cash assistance. Instead, counting the

garnished income, San Mateo County's welfare department denied aid to the Christensens. *Id*.

An administrative law judge concludes Bruce Christensen's child support payments were not available to meet the Christensen family's needs, but the Director of the Department reverses the decision.

Ms. Christensen requested an administrative hearing, asserting that the child support garnished from her husband's wages and unemployment should not count as income to her family. AR 7. The administrative law judge who heard the case agreed. The judge concluded that the garnished child support "is not available to meet the needs" of the Christensen children, and instructed the county welfare department to reevaluate the application, excluding the child support garnished from Bruce Christensen's earned and unearned income. AR 9.

But the Department's Director reversed and issued an alternate decision denying Ms. Christensen's claim. He reasoned that no regulation expressly exempts income that is paid outside the home for child support. AR 4.

Trial court rules in Ms. Christensen's favor, but Court of Appeal reverses.

Ms. Christensen filed a petition and complaint, seeking administrative mandamus (Code Civ. Proc. §1094.5), a traditional writ of mandate (Code Civ. Proc §1085) and declaratory relief. 1 CT 5-10. The trial court granted administrative mandate and declaratory relief, ruling that the Department's "policy to count court-ordered child support payments as available income of

the CalWORKs applicants and recipients who pay support, is invalid." 2 CT 619.

The trial court concluded that "child support that is transferred to children that live outside the home is not available to needy members of the family." *Id.* The court also declared that the Department's policy violated §11005.5, which prohibits consideration of the same funds in determining the amount of aid to two different recipient groups. 2 CT 618.

The Court of Appeal reversed, deferring to the Department's statutory and regulatory interpretations. Although recognizing that no statute directs the Department's policy, the Court of Appeal was concerned that "no limiting principle" would prevent a decision that garnished child support is not available income from applying equally to any other income garnishment. *Christensen*, 15 Cal.App.5th at 1247, 1256.

This Court granted review on January 10, 2018.

Standard of Review

This appeal primarily presents issues of statutory interpretation, which the Court reviews de novo. Reid v. Google, Inc., 50 Cal.4th 512, 527 (2010). "Where the meaning and legal effect of a statute is the issue, an agency's interpretation is one among several tools available to the court. Depending on the context, it may be helpful, enlightening, even convincing. It may sometimes be of little worth." Yamaha Corp. of Am. v. State Bd. of Equalization, 19 Cal.4th 1, 7-8 (1998). "[A]n erroneous administrative construction does not become decisive no matter how long continued." California Trout, Inc. v. State Water Resources Control Bd., 207 Cal.App.3d 585, 607 (1989), quoting People v. Union Oil Co., 48 Cal.2d 476, 480 (1957).

Argument

- I. Child support paid to other families is not income available to the paying family under California welfare law.
 - A. CalWORKs and child support operate together for the primary purpose of adequately supporting all children, a purpose which is thwarted by the Department's policy.

The Court's "primary task in interpreting a statute is to determine the Legislature's intent, giving effect to the law's purpose" John v. Superior Court, 63 Cal.4th 91, 95 (2016) (citation omitted). While that task normally begins with analyzing legislative language, no California statute expressly authorizes or prohibits the challenged policy. And leaving aside the double counting issue, see §II below, resolution of this case does not hinge on the meaning of a particular code section. Cf. Azusa Land Partners v. Dep't of Indus. Relations, 191 Cal.App.4th 1, 16 (2010) ("[j]udicial construction . . . is not accomplished by examining bits and pieces of a statute, but only after a consideration of all of its parts in order to effectuate the Legislature's intent.").

In this case, the Court should examine not just the CalWORKs statutory scheme, but also the system for calculating and distributing child support. As we now discuss, those two schemes are linked with each other; they work together with the overriding goal of providing an adequate level of support for California children; and the Department's policy at issue thwarts that goal, along with other purposes of both statutory schemes.

The welfare and child support programs have been intertwined since at least 1975, when President Ford signed into law legislation that added a new Part D to Title IV of the Social Security Act (*i.e.*, to the AFDC title). This new part, commonly referred to as IV-D, established a federal system for child

support enforcement for states participating in the AFDC program. P.L. 93-647 (Jan. 4, 1975) §101, adding 42 U.S.C. §§652 et seq.

Though a block grant to the states has replaced AFDC's cash assistance federal entitlement program, the welfare-child support link established in 1975 remains intact. States seeking federal aid for their public benefits programs must submit a "state plan for child support" which require states to establish paternity, secure collection, and disburse assigned child support funds to reimburse the state for welfare. 42 U.S.C. §§602(a)(2), 652, 654. Congress has specified that court orders or federally-approved formulas should determine the amount of support obligations, which, when owed to a state, cannot be discharged in bankruptcy. 42 U.S.C. §656.

These linked programs share the same primary purpose: adequate support of all children. Section 11205 specifies that each CalWORKs "family has the right and responsibility to provide sufficient support and protection of its children, to raise them according to its values and to provide every opportunity for educational and social progress." See also Sneed v. Saenz, 120 Cal.App.4th at1229 ("[a]dequate support for all of the needy children of California's working poor is a matter of priority" (emphasis in original); Waits v. Swoap, 11 Cal.3d 887, 896 (1974) (the purpose of AFDC, CalWORKs' predecessor, was "the preservation, so far as possible, of the family unit, and the more fundamental purpose of the preservation of the health of the state's children, the potential leaders of tomorrow.").

The child support statutes share the goal of securing sufficient support for all children. Courts issuing support orders must "place the interests of children as the state's highest priority." Fam. Code §4053(e). Support orders shall "take into account each parent's actual income and level of responsibility." Fam. Code §4053(c). And they "must ensure that children actually receive fair, timely and sufficient support reflecting the state's high

standard of living and high costs of raising children" Fam. Code §4053(1).

The Legislature has implemented this goal concretely by specifying amounts that must be paid both for CalWORKs and for child support. The CalWORKs statute provides that "[a]id shall be paid for each needy family" (§11450(a)(1)(A)) and then details the amount calculations.

Similarly, a formula to set the *amount* of a child support order is a required component of a state's federally approved Temporary Assistance for Needy Families plan. 42 U.S.C. §§602(a)(2); 667. To "ensure that this state remains in compliance with federal regulations," Fam. Code §4050, California has adopted a detailed uniform guideline for calculating child support. Fam. Code §§4055 *et seq*.

Critically, California's guideline prohibits the same attribution of unavailable income to the non-custodial parent that the Department is making in this case. Family Code §4059 provides, in relevant part, that the "annual net disposable income of each parent" is computed by deducting from the parent's gross income "[a]ny child or spousal support actually being paid by the parent pursuant to a court order" to another family. Fam. Code §4059(e).

Yet, under the Department's policy, when a family is so poor as to potentially qualify for CalWORKs, the same child support "actually being paid by the parent pursuant to a court order" is *not* deducted from the paying family's available income. By pretending the child support payments are available to responsible paying families like the Christensens, the Department's policy frustrates the Legislature's intent. It fails to place the interests of the Christensen children "as the state's highest priority," Fam. Code §4053(e), and fails to provide "sufficient support and protection" to them. §11205.

The Legislature has ensured that in effect there are two pots of money: one to fund the poor children in CalWORKs families; and the other to pay for the beneficiaries of child support orders. Whatever mix of government and private money is poured into these pots, the Legislature has expressed its intent that each pot remain full and available, or at least sufficient for adequate support of California's children. Thus, Family Code §17516 provides that "[i]n no event shall public social services benefits . . . be employed to satisfy a support obligation."

But that is exactly the result compelled by the Department's policy. The Department is using money needed to provide sufficient support for CalWORKs families to satisfy the obligation to pay child support to other families. The policy thwarts the primary purpose of both CalWORKs and child support.

The policy conflicts with other statutory purposes as well. One of those is "the preservation, so far as possible, of the family unit . . ." Waits v. Swoap, 11 Cal.3d at 896; see also §11205 ("the family unit is of fundamental importance to society"); Sneed v. Saenz, 120 Cal.App.4th at 1229 (welfare reform statutes are "designed to insure the long-term economic viability of the family unit.").

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