In the Supreme Court of the State of California

ANGIE CHRISTENSEN,

Plaintiff and Respondent,

v.

WILL LIGHTBOURNE, DIRECTOR, CALIFORNIA DEPARTMENT OF SOCIAL SERVICES; CALIFORNIA DEPARTMENT OF SOCIAL SERVICES,

Defendants and Appellants.

Case No. S245395

SUPREME COURT FILED

JUN 1 9 2018

Jorge Navarrete Clerk

Deputy

First Appellate District, Case No. A144254 San Francisco County Superior Court, Case No. CPF-12-512070 Honorable Ernest H. Goldsmith, Judge

ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

XAVIER BECERRA
Attorney General of California
JONATHAN L. WOLFF
Chief Assistant Attorney General
JANILL L. RICHARDS
Principal Deputy Solicitor General
JULIE WENG-GUTIRREZ
Senior Assistant Attorney General

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

In addition, the case law and history suggest that the primary purpose of section 11005.5 is to prevent treating one recipient or recipient group's aid as the income of another person or group in determining eligibility for aid. Here, CalWORKs benefits are the only government aid at issue, and the Department did not treat any aid received by a non-member of the Christensen household (specifically, Bruce's child who is living with the other parent and who is receiving CalWORKs aid) as the Christensens' income in determining their eligibility for CalWORKs aid.

In any event, even under Christensen's incorrect interpretation of section 11005.5, there was no "double counting" under the facts of this case, because Bruce's noncustodial child on CalWORKs aid was required to assign the right to child support to the State as a condition of receiving aid. Thus, that child's family did not receive the payments made by Bruce, and those payments were not treated as that family's income in determining its eligibility for or amount of aid.

Christensen speculates that even if section 11005.5 was not violated under the facts of her case, the Department may have counted income twice in certain other CalWORKs cases. She bases her argument on two narrow exceptions to the general rule requiring assignment of child support payments to the county, neither of which was applicable to her case. The argument fails due to its faulty legal premise, and, in any event, Christensen has presented no evidence that alleged "double counting" has occurred in any other case. The Court should decline to issue declaratory relief based on a purely hypothetical set of facts.

ARGUMENT

I. THE DEPARTMENT'S LONGSTANDING INTERPRETATION OF CALWORKS AS NOT EXEMPTING AMOUNTS GARNISHED FOR CHILD SUPPORT IN CALCULATING THE PAYOR'S INCOME IS ENTITLED TO GREAT WEIGHT

The amount of weight a court assigns an agency's interpretation of law is situational, turning on "factors relating to the agency's technical knowledge and expertise, which tend to suggest the agency has a comparative interpretive advantage over a court; and factors relating to the care with which the interpretation was promulgated, which tend to suggest the agency's interpretation is likely to be correct." (Association of California Insurance Companies v. Jones (2017) 2 Cal.5th 376, 390, citing Yamaha Corp. of America v. State Bd. of Equalization (1998) 19 Cal.4th 1, 12.)

The Department has consistently maintained that, under CalWORKs, counties must calculate an applicant's income without deducting income garnished to pay child support. The Department first explained this position in 1997, two months after CalWORKs was enacted, in an All County Letter providing counties with guidance on "implementing the new grant structure and payment provisions of [CalWORKs]." (CT 320 [All County Letter No. 97-59, p. 1]).) And when the Department formally amended its regulations to implement CalWORKs in 1998, it repealed the AFDC child support exemption. (CT 314-315 ¶ 9; compare CT 330 [former MPP § 44-113.9] with CT 519-533 [MPP § 44-111 et seq.] and CT 534-542 [MPP § 44-113 et seq.].) In both the All County Letter and the rulemaking file for the regulations implementing CalWORKs, the Department provided the same rationale: the CalWORKs program "eliminate[d] the existing income disregards," including the child support disregard, and "replac[ed] them with" the expanded earned-income

disregard. [CT 322 [All County Letter No. 97-59, p. 3]; see COA RJN Exh. A, p. 38 [rulemaking file for regulations implementing CalWORKs].)

The All County Letter and regulations implementing CalWORKs reflect the Department's formal interpretation of CalWORKs and bind county welfare departments. (§§ 10553, subd. (e), 10554, 10600, 10800, 11209.) All County Letters come from the "authoritative legal and policymaking levels of the agency." (Sharon S. v. Superior Court (2003) 31 Cal.4th 417, 436-437 [assigning "great weight" to the Department's interpretation of an adoption statute, set forth in an All County Letter].) The regulations repealing the former child support disregard likewise reflect the authoritative position of the agency regarding the proper treatment of child support garnishments under CalWORKs, and were promulgated after public notice and comment. (See COA RJN, Exh. A.) Where, as here, "the Legislature has delegated to an administrative agency the responsibility to implement a statutory scheme through rules and regulations, the courts will interfere only where the agency has clearly overstepped its statutory authority or violated a constitutional mandate." (Ford Dealers Assn. v. Department of Motor Vehicles (1982) 32 Cal.3d 347, 356.) As the agency most familiar with the AFDC and CalWORKs programs, the Department's "long-standing" and "consistently maintained" policy is entitled to "great weight," and should not be disturbed unless it is "clearly erroneous." (See Yamaha, supra, 19 Cal.4th at pp. 7, 12-13; Larkin v. Workers' Compensation Appeals Board (2015) 62 Cal.4th 152, 158.) As explained below, it is not.

II. THE DEPARTMENT'S POLICY IS CONSISTENT WITH THE TEXT, STATUTORY HISTORY, AND POLICY OF CALWORKS

A. The Text of the CalWORKs Statutes Supports the Department's Policy

In construing statutes, a court's task is to ascertain and effectuate the Legislature's intended purpose. (Carmack v. Reynolds (2017) 2 Cal.5th 844, 849.) Courts begin with the statute's text, "giving the words their usual and ordinary meaning." (Day v. City of Fontana (2001) 25 Cal.4th 268, 272.) "If there is no ambiguity, then [courts] presume the lawmakers meant what they said, and the plain meaning of the language governs." (Ibid.)

Christensen argues that income garnished to satisfy child support obligations "are not, and never will be, 'the family's income' used to decide the CalWORKs grant amount in § 11450(a)." (Opening Brief on the Merits [hereinafter OB] 23.) She is mistaken.

Section 11451.5, the CalWORKs provision addressing "[f]amily income calculation" and "exemption amounts," instructs the Department to calculate the sum of the applicant family's "earned" and "unearned" income, before subtracting any "exempt" income. (§ 11451.5, subds. (a), (b).)¹² Section 11451.5 makes clear that for purposes of CalWORKs, all income is either "earned" or "unearned"—and therefore counted in calculating net non-exempt income—or "exempt as income." (§§ 11450, 11451.5, subds. (a), (b).)

The statutory scheme also makes clear that the term "income," used alone, means gross income. Section 11451.1 defines "earned income" as

¹² The statute distinguishes between "disability-based unearned income" and all other "unearned income," but the distinction is not relevant here.

all "gross income received as wages" or "salary," among other sources. (§ 11451.5, subd. (b)(1).) "Disability-based unearned income" describes income from enumerated forms of disability benefits. (§ 11451.5, subd. (b)(2).) And "[u]nearned income" means "any income" not falling within the statutory definition of "earned" or "disability-based unearned" income. (§ 11451.5, subd. (b)(3).) This includes, for example, unemployment insurance benefits. Finally, section 11157, addressing the treatment of "lump sum payments," instructs that, subject to specific exceptions, "all lump-sum income received by the applicant or recipient shall be regarded as income in the month received." (§ 11157, italics added.) None of these provisions qualifies its respective definition based on how the CalWORKs applicant or recipient choses to or must use or spend his or her income. (See, e.g., § 11451.5, subd. (b).)

As these provisions illustrate, the Department does not, as Christensen claims, count Bruce's child support expenditures as her family's income; it counts as income Bruce's wages and unemployment insurance benefits, from which he pays child support. Under CalWORKs, these income streams count as "earned" and "unearned income," and are included in determining Christensen's eligibility for aid, unless deemed "exempt." (§§ 11450; 11451.5.) Here, no statute requires the Department to exempt income garnished to pay child support, and the surrounding statutory scheme does not suggest that an exemption should be implied. (OB 18.) Section 11451.5's provisions addressing "exemption amounts" require the Department to disregard the first \$225 of earned or disability-based unearned income, plus one half of any additional earned income, but make no mention of an exemption for child support payments. (§ 11451.5, subd. (a).) And the Welfare and Institutions Code contains at least nine other

express income disregards applicable to CalWORKs and other aid programs, none of which exempts garnished child support. These statutory disregards support the conclusion that the Legislature did not intend to exempt income garnished to pay child support. (See *Augustus v. ABM Security Services, Inc.* (2016) 2 Cal.5th 257, 266 [applying the interpretative canon *expressio unius* in construing provisions of wage order promulgated by the Industrial Welfare Commission].)

For similar reasons, Christensen's comparison of CalWORKs to the Family Code's child support formula does not support, and in fact undermines her argument. (OB 20). The Family Code's child support formula relies on each parent's "net disposable income." (Fam. Code, §§ 4055, 4059.) For those purposes, courts start with the parent's "gross income" before subtracting not only "child or spousal support actually being paid by the parent pursuant to a court order," but also taxes, FICA withholdings, certain mandatory payroll deductions, and other job-related expenses. (*Id.* §§ 4055, 4059.) This shows that the Legislature knows how to exclude expenses and obligations from an income calculation where that is its intent. The Legislature charted a different course with CalWORKs, choosing to determine eligibility and grant amount without providing for any of the income deductions contained in Family Code section 4059.

¹³ These include a disregard for "income from college work-study programs" (§ 11157, subd. (b)(2)); income received too infrequently to be considered "reasonably anticipated" (§ 11157, subd. (b)(1)); academic or extracurricular awards or scholarships (§ 11157, subd. (b)(3)); income received under state benefits programs for the blind and disabled (§ 11008.1); income from certain student loans or grants to undergraduates (§ 11008.10); income of certain children or wards of the juvenile court who participate in federal programs (§ 11008.15); certain postponed property taxes and renters credits (§ 11008.4); voluntary contributions or grants from public or private sources meeting certain conditions (§ 11010); and the value of free board or lodging (§ 11009.1).

(Compare § 11451.5 with Fam. Code § 4059.) The contrast "is significant to show that a different intention existed." (*People v. Licas* (2007) 41 Cal.4th 362, 367.)¹⁴

B. No Authority Compels the Department to Exempt Garnished Child Support from Income

Christensen does not dispute that the CalWORKs statutes generally require the Department to consider a family's gross earned and unearned income in determining eligibility, unless that income is deemed exempt. (See OB 18, 22-25.) And she identifies no statute exempting child support payments. (*Ibid.*) Instead, Christensen argues that the garnished sums cannot be considered "income" at all because the funds are never "received" and are "not actually available' to provide for her children on a day-to-day basis." (OB 22-25.) Both arguments are without merit.

1. Section 11265.2, Subdivision (b), Addresses the Timing and Predictability of Income; It Does Not Require "Actual Receipt" of Income

To argue that amounts garnished to pay child support payments do not count as income, Christensen first relies on section 11265.2. That section directs the Department to consider only income that is "reasonably anticipated for the upcoming semiannual [reporting] period," which means that "the county is reasonably certain of the amount of income and that the income will be received during the semiannual reporting period."

¹⁴ As explained below, there are significant differences between the policies underlying a state aid program and the Family Code's mechanisms for enforcing a private party's support obligations. (See Argument, Section II.D., *infra*.) But even assuming CalWORKs and the Family Code are as closely related as Christensen argues (OB 18-22), that would only bolster the inference that the Legislature intended that income used to satisfy existing child support obligations should be treated differently under each. (*Licas*, *supra*, 41 Cal.4th at p. 367.)

(§ 11265.2, subds. (a), (b).) Christensen argues that because Bruce's child support payments are "transferred via garnishment," the garnished income is never "received" by Bruce, and therefore cannot be considered her family's "reasonably anticipated income." (OB 23.)

Christensen fundamentally misconstrues the meaning and purpose of section 11265.2, subdivision (b). The Legislature inserted the "reasonably anticipated" language in 2002 when it replaced a monthly-reporting system—whereby CalWORKs grants were recalculated each month based on actual past income—with a system under which counties award aid prospectively based on "reasonably anticipated" income for the upcoming period. (See Assem. Bill No. 444 (2001-2002 Reg. Sess.) pp. 4, 21-24, 29-30, attached as Exhibit B to COA RJN; §§ 11265.1, 11265.2, 11265.3, 11450.12.)¹⁵ The statute uses "income" to mean "gross income" before any exempt income is deducted. (See Argument, Section II.A, *supra*.) Accordingly, section 11265.2, subdivision (b), simply instructs the Department to consider the amount of gross earned and unearned income that the Department can "reasonably anticipate" the applicant will earn in the prospective budgeting period, before deducting any exempt income.

This Court should reject Christensen's reading of 11265.2 for at least three additional reasons. First, nothing in section 11265.2, subdivision (b)'s text or legislative history suggests that it was intended to qualify section 11451.5's instruction to consider a family's "reasonably anticipated" gross income, unless that income is deemed "exempt." And of course, gross income typically includes funds that are never deposited in an individual's bank account—such as tax withholdings, payroll deductions, or garnishments for debt. (See OB 23.) It is implausible that the Legislature

¹⁵ The prospective budgeting system is currently applied on a semi-annual basis. (MPP § 40-103.5, attached as Exhibit F to COA RJN].)

intended section 11265.2—a provision adopted for the express purpose of "mak[ing] eligibility determinations based on . . . a prospective budgeting system"—to effect such a significant change to the substantive definition of income without saying so in the statute's text or legislative history. (COA RJN, Exh. B at p. 4 [Legislative Counsel's Digest for AB 444 (2001-2002)]; see also OB 13.)

Second, Christensen cannot explain how other deductions from income—such as tax withholdings or consumer-debt garnishments—are in fact "received" in the sense she uses the term. (See OB 23.)¹⁶ Yet Christensen does not claim, and could not claim, that section 11265.2 prohibits the Department from treating as income amounts withheld for taxes or garnished to pay consumer debt.¹⁷

Finally, the Department's treatment of gross income as having been "received" by an applicant, even when a portion of that income is garnished to meet an obligation, is consistent with fundamental accounting principles reflected in, for example, federal tax law. Under those principles, "[a]n employer's payment of an obligation of the taxpayer is equivalent to the

¹⁶ Christensen's efforts to distinguish child support garnishments from tax withholdings and consumer-debt garnishments focus solely on asserted differences in their "availability," not the extent to which they are "received." Christensen's availability argument is addressed immediately below. (See Argument, Sections II.B.2 and II.B.3, *infra*.)

¹⁷ Christensen argued below that the Department's regulations interpreting the prospective budgeting system of section 11265.2, support the conclusion that amounts garnished to pay child support are not available to needy members of the family. (*Christensen*, *supra*, 15 Cal.App.5th at p. 1255.) Christensen has not raised this argument in her Opening Brief on the Merits, and therefore has abandoned it. In any event, the Court of Appeal correctly determined that the Department offered a reasoned explanation for its interpretation that its regulations, particularly MPP sections 44-101(a) and 44-102.1, mean that income is "available" when it is reasonably anticipated. (*Id.* at pp. 1255-1258.)

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